FILED COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II

2012 DEC 19 PM 12: 46

STATE OF WASHINGTON

BY Ch

No. 43926-3-II

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION TWO

KAREN THIEL,

Respondent,

v.

BRIAN MASSINGHAM,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM LEWIS COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT (Commissioner Tracy Loiacono Mitchell Judge James W. Lawler)

#### BRIAN MASSINGHAM'S OPENING BRIEF

Dennis J. McGlothin, WSBA No. 28177 Robert J. Cadranell, WSBA No. 41773 Attorneys for Respondent

> OLYMPIC LAW GROUP, PLLP 2815 Eastlake Ave. E., Suite 170 Seattle, Washington 98102 (206) 527-2500

###

I. Assignment of Error:
[I, Issues
III. Introduction
IV. Statement of Facts
A. Background
B. The Case
V. Argument:
A. The Court Could Not Find Mr. Massingham's Speech was a Course of Conduct Constituting Unlawful Harassment Because It was Constitutionally Protected Free Speech.
1. Constitutionally Protected Speech May not Form the Basis for an Anti-Harassment Order
2. Mr. Massingham's Speech was Constitutionally Protected Free Speech
B. RCW 10.14.020(2) is Unconstitutionally Vague and Overbroad As Applied Because a Similar Provision in RCW 9A.46.020(1)(a)(iv) Has Already Been So Found
C. A "True Threat" is Not Protected Speech, But The Lower Court Made No Finding of a "True Threat." 1
D. The Trial Court Erred in Punishing Mr. Massingham For His Speech In A Manner That Bears No Relation To The Speech
E. The Trial Court Cannot Use The Unlawful Harassment Statute To Impose Time, Manner Or Location Restrictions on Pure Speech

### TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases
Bering v. SHARE,
106 Wn.2d 212, 721 P.2d 918 (1986)14-16
In re Marriage of Suggs,
152 Wn.2d 74, 93 P.3d 161 (2004)6-7
Pleasant Grove City, Utah v. Summum,
555 U.S. 460, 129 S. Ct. 1125, 172 L. Ed. 2d 853 (2009)8
Rowan v. U.S. Post Office Dep't,
397 U.S. 728, 90 S.Ct. 1484, 25 L.Ed.2d 736 (1970)8
State v. Kilburn,
151 Wn.2d 36, 43, 84 P.3d 1215 (2004)11
State v. Noah,
103 Wn. App. 29, 9 P.3d 858, 865 (2000)
State v. Williams,
144 Wn.2d 197, 26 P.3d 890, 898 (2001)9
Trummel v. Mitchell,
156 Wn.2d 653, 131 P.3d 305 (2006)8, 12
United States v. Alvarez,
617 F.3d 1198, 1202 (9th Cir. 2010)7
Statutes
RCW 9A.46.020
RCW 10.14.020
RCW 10.14.0406, 13
RCW 10.14.0806
RCW 10.14.090
RCW 10.14.1906
Other Authorities
Rodney A. Smolla, Smolla and Nimmer on Freedom of Speech § 5.5
(3d ed. 2003)8

#### I. <u>ASSIGNMENT OF ERRORS</u>

- A. The lower court erred when it used constitutionally protected free speech as the course of conduct forming the basis for an anti-harassment order.
- B. The lower court erred when it entered an anti-harassment order that was not narrowly tailored to serve a compelling state interest.
- C. The lower court erred when it denied Mr. Massingham's Motion for Revision.

#### II. <u>ISSUES</u>

- A. Whether Brian Massingham's pure speech is a constitutionally protected activity that cannot form the basis for an anti-harassment order when his speech was not a "true threat" and he made it in a public forum.
- B. Whether the anti-harassment order was not narrowly tailored to achieve a compelling government interest.

#### III. INTRODUCTION

According to the trial court Brian Massingham uttered the name "Ken Gray" or "Kenny Gray" at two softball games in public parks, within his former wife's hearing range. The Lewis County Superior Court concluded Mr. Massingham's speech was unlawful harassment, and it issued an anti-harassment protection order restraining Mr. Massingham

from coming within 500 feet of his former wife's residence, restraining him from making any attempt to contact her except in regards to the children by text or e-mail, and requiring the parties to exchange their children at a mutually agreeable neutral location. The order does not restrain Massingham from continuing to say "Kenny Gray" in public places, even though this was the pure speech that the court deemed to be harassing.

#### IV. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Background. The parties' marital dissolution became final on May 9, 2012; on that date, among the orders the Lewis County Superior Court entered were an Agreed Parenting Plan<sup>1</sup> and a Final Order of Child Support.<sup>2</sup> The parties' two children were then aged 13 and 11.<sup>3</sup>

The Case. On June 21, 2012, Karen Thiel (formerly Karen Massingham) filed a Notice of Intended Relocation of Children.<sup>4</sup> On the same date, she also filed a Petition and Declaration for an Order for Protection.<sup>5</sup> Her declaration alleged a series of events that supposedly took place in May and June 2012, after the dissolution was final.<sup>6</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> CP 31-42.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> CP 152-62.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> CP 153.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> CP 44-47.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> CP 20-22.

<sup>°</sup> CP 22.

The District Court entered a temporary protection order on June 21, 2012.<sup>7</sup> The case was transferred from Lewis County District Court to Superior Court on July 12, 2012.<sup>8</sup>

A hearing was held in the Lewis County Superior Court on July 30, 2012, before Commissioner Tracy Loiacono Mitchell, at which Ms. Thiel testified that on May 13, 2012, at a baseball tournament for the parties' daughter in Kent, Washington, where Ms. Thiel was "working [sic] by the dugout... and Brian yells out, 'Kenny Gray'... loud enough for us to hear as we were walking by." She also testified as follows regarding a fast pitch tournament, this one in April, 2012, in Kelso, Washington: "I was putting my chair up behind the backstop to watch my daughter warm up for pitching. And [Mr. Massingham] comes over and stands in front of me and he just keeps turning around, saying things about Kenny Gray." Ms. Thiel also testified to the other events in her Petition.

After hearing testimony, the Commissioner entered an Order for Protection—Harassment (the "Order") on July 30, 2012, pursuant to chapter 10.14 RCW. <sup>11</sup> The Order was to be in effect for six months. <sup>12</sup> At

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> CP 12-14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> CP 1-2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> RP 18:18-21:11 (July 30, 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> RP 26:15-18 (July 30, 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> CP 220-21.

the hearing, the Commissioner did not find enough evidence to support any of Ms. Thiel's numerous allegations other than the two instances where Mr. Massingham either said "Kenny Gray" or said something about Kenny Gray:

I'm going to grant the order for three incidences—or two—I'm sorry, two incidences. I don't find that the evidence has been proven on the glass. While there's suspicion of peeling out, I don't have enough evidence for that. But the main reason why I'm granting this, and I'm going to do it for six months, with the expectation that it—hopefully, it will kind of settle things down. I find the testimony regarding him telling her "Kenny Gray, Kenny Gray," and standing in front of her and turning around and saying "Kenny Gray," is very credible. The rest of it, when you look at each one, I have a difficult time. 13

Counsel for Mr. Massingham clarified with the court as follows:

Mr. McGlothin: Now my question is, on fashioning the order... the ground that you found to be the harassing conduct, if you will... is him yelling out the name "Kenny Gray"

The Court: Continuing to tell her "Kenny Gray" to her face, yes. 14

The Order restrained Brian Massingham from 1. making any attempt to contact Karen Thiel except in regards to the children by text or e-mail; and 2. entering or being within 500 feet of Karen Thiel's

<sup>12</sup> Id

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> RP 94:25-95:12 (July 30, 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> RP 98:21-99:6.

residence, at the time in Chehalis, Washington. <sup>15</sup> The Order also 3. required the parties to exchange the children at Hillcrest service station "or other mutually agreeable neutral location." The Order did not restrain Mr. Massingham from continuing to utter the name Kenny Gray in public places or at future sporting events. 17

On August 9, 2012, Brian Massingham filed a Motion for Revision with the Superior Court, asking that the Order be vacated and Thiel's petition be dismissed because the Order punished Mr. Massingham for exercising his fundamental Constitutional right to free speech. 18 Mr. Massingham argued that his speech was constitutionally protected free speech and that the Order was not narrowly tailored to achieve a compelling state interest. <sup>19</sup> On September 7, 2012, the Lewis County Superior Court entered an order denying the Motion for Revision.<sup>20</sup> Massingham timely appealed both the Order for Protection and the Order Denying Motion for Revision.<sup>21</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> CP 221.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> CP 233-240.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> CP 253-54. <sup>21</sup> CP 255-62.

#### V. **ARGUMENT**

- A. The Court Could Not Find Mr. Massingham's Speech was a Course of Conduct Constituting Unlawful Harassment Because It was Constitutionally Protected Free Speech.
  - 1. Constitutionally Protected Speech May not Form the Basis for an Anti-Harassment Order.

The anti harassment statutes create a cause of action for unlawful harassment.<sup>22</sup> In order to receive an antiharassment order under those statutes a party must show by a preponderance of the evidence that the opposing party committed "unlawful harassment."<sup>23</sup> "Unlawful harassment" is defined to require "a knowing and willful *course of conduct...*"<sup>24</sup> "Course of conduct" is defined to exclude any constitutionally protected activity.<sup>25</sup> Moreover, the harassment chapter was not intended "to infringe upon any constitutionally protected rights including, … freedom of speech."<sup>26</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> RCW 10.14.040.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> RCW 10.14.080(3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> RCW 10.14.020(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> RCW 10.14.020(1). (Constitutionally protected activity is not included within the meaning of "course of conduct.")

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> RCW 10.14.190; In re Marriage of Suggs, 152 Wn.2d 74, 80, 93 P.3d 161 (2004).

- 2. Mr. Massingham's Speech was Constitutionally Protected Free Speech.
  - a. Mr. Massingham's Speech did not Fall Into a Restricted Category.

Mr. Massingham's speech was constitutionally protected. From 1791 the First Amendment has protected speech from content restrictions except "in a few limited areas." These few limited areas where speech is not constitutionally protected are: obscenity, defamation, fraud, incitement, and speech integral to criminal conduct. The Mr. Massingham's saying "Kenny Gray" does not fall into any of these unprotected areas. It is, therefore, constitutionally protected and uttering those words is a constitutionally protected activity. As such, that conduct, standing alone, cannot constitute unlawful harassment and cannot give rise to a valid antiharassment order.

b. Mr. Massingham's Speech was not an Invasion of Ms. Thiel's Home But Instead was in a Public Park, and Parks Have a Special Place as Fora for Speech.

Mr. Massingham uttering the words "Kenny Gray" at a public park, as opposed to sending the unwanted words into Ms. Thiel's home, is especially protected by the Constitutions. The U.S. Supreme Court long ago recognized that members of the public retain strong free speech

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Id.; *United States v. Alvarez*, 617 F.3d 1198, 1202 (9th Cir. 2010).

rights when they venture into public streets and parks, "which 'have immemorially been held in trust for the use of the public and, time out of mind, have been used for purposes of assembly, communicating thoughts between citizens, and discussing public questions." "28

In contrast, courts draw a special distinction regarding the home. The United States Supreme Court has made it clear that "[n]othing in the Constitution compels us to listen to or view any unwanted communication, whatever its merit."<sup>29</sup> The court "categorically" rejected the idea that a person has a right under the Constitution to send unwanted material into the home of another. <sup>30</sup> Commentators note that it is out of respect for the "intense privacy values associated with the home in American law," that the home is the principal exception to the general rule that the burden is on the viewer to avert his or her eyes from unwanted speech. <sup>31</sup>

Mr. Massingham's saying "Kenny Gray" was not an intrusion into Ms. Thiel's home. If it had been, it would not have had the same constitutional protection that it has because it occurred in a public

<sup>28</sup> Pleasant Grove City, Utah v. Summum, 555 U.S. 460, 469, 129 S. Ct. 1125, 1132, 172 L. Ed. 2d 853 (2009) (citations omitted).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> Trummel v. Mitchell, 156 Wn.2d 653, 667, 131 P.3d 305 (2006), quoting Rowan v. U.S. Post Office Dep't, 397 U.S. 728, 737, 90 S.Ct. 1484, 25 L.Ed.2d 736 (1970).
<sup>30</sup> Id., quoting Rowan, 397 U.S. at 738.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> *Id.*, quoting Rodney A. Smolla, *Smolla and Nimmer on Freedom of Speech* § 5.5 (3d ed. 2003)

baseball park. Because Mr. Massingham's speech occurred instead in public baseball parks, he retains especially strong free speech rights. Because the speech was constitutionally protected, it cannot form the basis of a "course of conduct" constituting "unlawful harassment" for purposes of issuing an antiharassment order.

B. RCW 10.14.020(2) is Unconstitutionally Vague and Overbroad As Applied Because a Similar Provision in RCW 9A.46.020(1)(a)(iv) Has Already Been So Found.

RCW 9A.46.020(1)(a)(iv) states in relevant part that a person is guilty of unlawful harassment if, without lawful authority, the person knowingly threatens "Maliciously to do any other act which is intended to substantially harm the person threatened or another with respect to his or her physical *or mental* health or safety;<sup>32</sup> (Emphasis added).

The Washington Supreme Court struck down the mental health provision in RCW 9A.46.020(1)(a)(iv) because it was facially unconstitutionally overbroad as it restricted constitutionally protected speech:

RCW 9A.46.020(1)(a)(iv) is unconstitutionally vague to the extent "mental health" is referenced...Moreover, use of the term is unconstitutionally overbroad insofar as it restricts constitutionally protected speech, subjecting it to a strict scrutiny test it fails to meet. We therefore find the term "mental health" in RCW 9A.46.020(1)(a)(iv) renders the statute both unconstitutionally vague and overbroad.<sup>33</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> RCW 9A.46.020(1)(a)(i)-(iv).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> State v. Williams, 144 Wn.2d 197, 212, 26 P.3d 890, 898 (2001).

Applying RCW ch. 10.14 in the way it was applied here suffers from the same constitutional infirmity, and it underscores that pure speech like Mr. Massingham's is constitutionally protected speech. RCW 10.14.020 defines unlawful harassment as

a knowing and willful course of conduct directed at a specific person which seriously alarms, annoys, harasses, or is detrimental to such person, and which serves no legitimate or lawful purpose. The course of conduct shall be such as would cause a reasonable person to suffer substantial emotional distress, and shall actually cause substantial emotional distress to the petitioner...<sup>34</sup>

In RCW 10.14.020, use of the language "seriously alarms, annoys, harasses, or is detrimental to such person" and "substantial emotional distress" are as unconstitutionally vague and overbroad as the mental health language in RCW 9A.46.020(1)(a)(iv) because the public is left to speculate as to what speech or conduct is prohibited. Terms such as "substantial emotional distress" and "seriously alarms, annoys, harasses or is detrimental" are no more definite than was the term "mental health" in RCW 9A.46.020(1)(a)(iv). RCW 10.14.020 is, therefore, constitutionally vague. It is also constitutionally overbroad if this Court fails to give effect to the clause in RCW 10.14.020(2) that excludes constitutionally protected activity from the "course of conduct" definition.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> RCW 10.14.020(2).

# C. A "True Threat" is Not Protected Speech, But The Lower Court Made No Finding of a "True Threat."

The reason Williams held the provision within RCW 9A.46.020(1)(a)(iv) criminalizing speech that threatens harm to a person's mental health as opposed to their physical health unconstitutional is because speech that affects or threatens a person's mental or emotional health is not a "true threat" and is, therefore, entitled to constitutional protection. A "true threat" is not protected speech under the First Amendment.<sup>35</sup> It can, therefore, serve as the basis for an antiharassment order. A "true threat" is a statement made "in a context or under such circumstances wherein a reasonable person would foresee that the statement would be interpreted ... as a serious expression of intention to inflict bodily harm upon or to take the life of [another individual]."36 Our Washington Supreme Court has adopted an objective test of what constitutes a "true threat": A "true threat" is a statement made in a context or under such circumstances wherein a reasonable person would foresee that the statement would be interpreted as a serious expression of intention to inflict **bodily harm** upon or to take the life of another person.<sup>37</sup>

24

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> State v. Kilburn, 151 Wn.2d 36, 43, 84 P.3d 1215 (2004), citing Watts v. U.S., 394 U.S. 705, 707, 89 S.Ct. 1399 (1969).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> State v. Williams, 144 Wn.2d 197, 207-08, 26 P.3d 890 (2001).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> State v. Kilburn, 151 Wn.2d 36, 43, 84 P.3d 1215 (2004).

Here, there was no finding of any "true threat" expressing an intent to inflict bodily harm upon, much less take the life of, Ms. Thiel. The court found simply that Mr. Massingham said the name "Kenny Gray" within hearing of Ms. Thiel on two occasions of ballgames in public baseball parks. Mr. Massingham's speech cannot qualify as constitutionally unprotected speech for having been a "true threat" when there was no finding of any threat of bodily harm.

## D. The Trial Court Erred in Punishing Mr. Massingham For His Speech In A Manner That Bears No Relation To The Speech.

The trial court erred in proscribing a remedy that bears no relation whatsoever to Mr. Massingham's speech. "Although a trial court has broad authority in [the unlawful harassment] area, the authority is not limitless." The relief granted "must be warranted by the facts." It is not proper to grant relief to a person beyond the nexus of the relationship between the parties "and the harm." Here, the purported offending conduct was stating Ms. Thiel's paramour's name in a public forum (a park). The remedy, however, was to punish Mr. Massingham for uttering these words by prohibiting him from picking his children up and dropping them off at Ms. Thiel's home. It also prohibited him from going back to her home to allow their children from picking up their

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> Trummel v. Mitchell, 156 Wash. 2d 653, 668, 131 P.3d 305, 313 (2006).

<sup>39</sup> Trummel, 156 Wash.2d at 668

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> Trummel, at 669

sports gear or other personal belongings that they may have forgotten when they were transitioning between households. Under these circumstances there is absolutely no nexus between Mr. Massingham's speech and the conduct proscribed by the trial court's order.

#### E. The Trial Court Cannot Use The Unlawful Harassment Statute To Impose Time, Manner Or Location Restrictions on Pure Speech.

Courts cannot use the unlawful harassment statutes to impose time, manner or place restrictions on pure speech. Washington's unlawful harassment statutes create a cause of action for "unlawful harassment." RCW 10.14.040. To prove unlawful harassment a party must show a knowing and willful "course of conduct." RCW 10.14.020(2). "Constitutionally protected activity" is excluded from the statutory definition for course of conduct. RCW 10.14.020(1). ("Constitutionally protected activity is not included within the meaning of 'course of conduct.'"). In other words, a court must find more than constitutionally protected activity such as pure speech or picketing in order to validly issue an anti-harassment order.<sup>41</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> RCW 10.14.090; and *State v. Noah*, 103 Wn. App. 29, 38-39, 9 P.3d 858, 865 (2000) ("Noah contends that the lawful exercise of his right of free speech and right to picket are excluded from the definition of "course of conduct," and cannot be the basis for an antiharassment order. He is absolutely correct.")

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