NO. 43926-3-II

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION TWO

LEWIS COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT NO. 11-3-00031-3

BRIAN MASSINGHAM, Appellant,

and

KAREN THIEL (f/k/a MASSINGHAM), Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

S. Tye Menser, WSBA No. 37480 Megan Bartley, WSBA No. 42425 of Morgan Hill, P.C. Attorneys for Respondent

MORGAN HILL, P.C. 2102 Carriage Drive SW, Bldg. C Olympia, WA 98502 Tel: 360/357-5700 Fax: 360/357-5761

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. <u>Appellant Has Overly-Narrowly Characterized the Basis of the Trial Court's Order.</u>

The starting point of Appellant's argument in this case is his belief that the anti-harassment order was based solely on Massingham saying the words "Ken Gray" or "Kenny Gray" at two softball games in public parks while Thiel is present. This characterization of the basis of the trial court's order is repeated over and over by Massingham. Appellant contends that this basis violates constitutional principles of free speech.

Appellant, however, has over-simplified and too-narrowly characterized the basis for the anti-harassment order.

⁴¹2RP 5; Respondent's Brief, p. 1, 4, 7, 8-9, 12, 16. ⁴²Id.

The Commissioner was clear in her ruling that the offending conduct giving ride to the order was not merely saying Ken Gray's name. She specified that there was a physical component to Massingham's conduct. Further, Commissioner Mitchell cited several instances of annoying and harassing conduct that proved Massingham's intent and provided context that made his verbal tirades at the ball field rise to the level of harassment. Specifically, the Commissioner noted, that Massingham "was standing in front of [Thiel] and turning around" basically blocking her view of the field where her daughter was playing softball — constituted harassment. 43 Further, the Commissioner found that Massingham contacted Thiel's employer and her landlord, stating, "I would consider that annoying."44 The Commissioner further found Massingham's yelling at Thiel's father in her presence and the presence of her children to be "[a]nnoying and probably harassing [to the grandfather]," and concerning because it was being done in front of the kids. 45 Finally, the Commissioner recognized other evidence that evidenced Massingham's course of conduct showing an unreasonable intent to annoy and harass Thiel: Massingham "just continues to want to

⁴³1RP 95. ⁴⁴1RP 96.

poke, poke, poke, poke, to the point where ... it's not reasonable. ...

And I do find he's doing that to annoy her. He can't quite seem to get over that emotional part of the dissolution."

Thus, even setting aside calls to Thiel's employer, unexplained calls to Thiel's landlord, and other pieces of Massingham's total course of conduct (*see discussion*, Section IV.C, *infra*), Massingham's harassing actions in the park were not merely "saying a name in a public forum," but Massingham's *physical actions* and *intent* in connection with the speech. The court was clear, even with respect to the ball field incidents alone, that there was a *physical component* to the harassing behavior. It was not just the speech, but the speech while standing in her space, blocking her view of the field,⁴⁷ intruding in a place she cannot remove herself from, and has no choice but to be given that her daughter is playing ball there.⁴⁸

Even further, it was not just the speech plus standing in front of her and intruding physically that constituted harassment, but doing all that *in*

⁴⁸Thus the legal principle, cited by Appellant, that, generally speaking, a person must avert eyes from unwanted speech, has no application here, as will be discussed more fully in Section IV.B, *infra*.

⁴⁶1RP 96-97.

⁴⁷Massingham argued at the motion for revision that the Commissioner never found that there was a physical component to the harassing speech, but he was mistaken: "I find the testimony regarding his telling her 'Kenny Gray, Kenny Gray,' and *standing in front of her* and turning around and saying 'Kenny Gray,' is very credible." 1RP 95 (emphasis added). Later, the Commissioner clarified that physical component included "[c]ontinuing to tell her 'Kenny Gray' to her face" 1RP 99 (emphasis added).

the context of all the other actions the Commissioner found did occur and were designed to "annoy" her, and "poke" at her, and not be able to get over the dissolution. 49 Massingham tried to clarify at the hearing that these other related acts, in and of themselves, may not have supported an antiharassment order, but in connection with Massingham's actions at the ball field, they transformed any claim of constitutionally-protected speech into legal harassment. 50 For these reasons, it is of no importance that the speech component of Massingham's course of conduct did not contain a "true threat." 51

This was exactly the analysis of the Superior Court judge on revision — another decision Massingham is appealing. The judge recognized that the order was *not* based — as Appellant contends — on merely "saying Kenny Gray in a public place":

So to argue this is constitutionally protected speech when it was clear that the intent of the comments, the intent of the speech, given what was said, how it was said, where it was said, the frequency of it, it's clear to me that this was harassment, that the order for protection against harassment was appropriate.⁵²

⁴⁹1RP 91.

⁵⁰The Commissioner repeated this at various points of her ruling. See, e.g., 1RP 96 (Massingham's course of conduct "concerning, particularly when you start seeing the snowball effect").

⁵¹See, Opening Brief, Section V.C, pp. 11-12.

⁵²2RP 13 (emphasis added).

The Superior Court judge was correct in rejecting Massingham's overlynarrow characterization of the conduct constituting harassment and recognizing that the harassment was based on a broader basis of the intent, physical actions, and total content of Massingham's behavior.

B. Even as Characterized, the Order Did Not Violate Free Speech
Based on Principles Articulated In *Trummel v. Mitchell*.

Even if we assume *arguendo* that the basis of the anti-harassment order was as characterized by Appellant — based only on verbal statements involving the name "Kenny Gray" — the order may still be affirmed by this Court.

First, the record is undisputed that Massingham engaged in "yelling" the name Kenny Gray at one or both of the times at the ball field. ⁵³ *Trummel v. Mitchell*, cited by Appellant, includes "yelling and screaming" as appropriately included within a harassing course of conduct. 156 Wn.2d 653, 666, 131 P.3d 305 (2006).

Second, *Trummel* discusses the constitutional principle conceded by Appellant that the Constitution does not protect the "right to impose speech [on those who do not want it] — it supports the right to receive speech." *Id.* at 667. Thus, there is no right to send unwanted publications,

⁵³1RP 21, 26-27, 35, 93, 99.

for example, otherwise protected by the First Amendment, into another's home. *Id.* The anti-harassment order in this case merely restricts

Massingham from accessing Thiel's home.

Moreover, because Massingham and Thiel share parenting responsibilities, Thiel cannot fully avoid contact with Massingham. The harassing verbal conduct in this case was not merely in a public park where Thiel was present and could simply "avert her eyes." See, id. (noting the "general rule that the burden is on the viewer to avert his or her eyes from unwanted speech"). Here, Thiel is not able to "avert her eyes" — she is attending her daughter's sporting event as a residential, custodial parent. She is not in a position to avoid the unwanted speech. Massingham's conduct, by "standing in front of her," repeatedly uttering the name of "Kenny Gray" in an effort to annoy Thiel, is more akin in these circumstances to sending publications to her home than the "open public forum" Massingham posits. Even more so, because a publication can be quickly recognized and discarded without further dissemination or publication to third parties. In this case, Thiel had no ability to avoid any of Massingham's unwanted speech — or keeping it from others without abandoning her parenting activities and responsibilities.

Any issue about defamation aside, the issue in this case is about Massingham's abusive and controlling course of conduct the court found unlawfully harassing under RCW 10.14.080. The order was well-justified by the totality of facts in the record.

C. <u>The Record Contains Tenable Basis For Order Despite More-</u> Limited Nature of Commissioner's Ruling.

In this case, though the Commissioner's factual findings will not be disturbed, the Court is not bound by the Commissioner's *legal* conclusions about whether the acts that occurred constitute harassment. Even if we were to assume that (1) the Commissioner *only* relied on the acts in the ball park for the anti-harassment order, and (2) those acts alone are insufficient to constitute legal harassment — the order should still be affirmed if *other* acts established by the evidence and/or found by the trial court provide a sufficient basis for the order, whether or not the Commissioner believed they did.

In this case, we have a broad series of acts by Massingham. A few of them the trial court could not find occurred: peeling out from driveway, running Thiel over with car door open, breaking windows.⁵⁴ Many others, however, the Commissioner *did* find occurred — and even found some

⁵⁴1RP 95.

were designed to "annoy" Thiel and did annoy Thiel — but did not specifically include them as the explicit basis for the order: (1) driving by Thiel's home, ⁵⁵ (2) coming unannounced to home when Thiel not present, ⁵⁶ (3) calling her employer on multiple occasions, ⁵⁷ (4) calling Thiel's landlord, ⁵⁸ (5) contacting her insurance company, ⁵⁹ (6) harassing her father at the ball field, ⁶⁰ (7) telling people in community that Thiel had an affair, ⁶¹ and (8) intercepting and/or monitoring Thiel's calls and texts for a period of time. ⁶² This Court, in assessing the anti-harassment order, may consider this second group of acts by Massingham, and affirm the trial court's order if it believes that any of these acts would have supported the anti-harassment order. *State v. S.S.*, 67 Wn. App. 800, 812, 840 P.2d 891 (Div. I 1992).

The definition of "unlawful harassment" in RCW 10.14.020 includes "conduct directed at a specific person which seriously alarms, *annoys*, harasses, or is detrimental to such person, and which serves no

⁵⁵1RP 95.

⁵⁶1RP 92. Though the court did not seem to draw a final, definitive conclusion about whether this occurred or not.

⁵⁷1RP 93.

⁵⁸1RP 96.

⁵⁹1RP 95.

⁶⁰1RP 97.

⁶¹1RP 94.

⁶²1RP 94.

legitimate or lawful purpose." RCW 10.14.020(2) (emphasis added).

Therefore, acts directed at Thiel that annoyed her would qualify as harassment under the statute. As laid out above, the trial court found *many* acts occurred that were specifically found as intended to annoy Thiel. 63

Therefore, there is no basis not to consider them as a proper basis of the order, despite any suggestion of the Commissioner to the contrary upon questioning by Massingham's counsel. For this separate reason, this Court should affirm the issuance of the anti-harassment order.

D. RCW 10.14.020(2) Is Not Unconstitutionally Vague or Overbroad.

State v. Williams held one portion of the criminal harassment statute (former RCW 9A.46.020(1)(a)(iv)) to be vague and overbroad, with respect to the concept of a threat to harm a victim's "mental health." 144 Wn.2d 197, 26 P.3d 890 (2001). Appellant in this case, without support, argues that this Court should treat the concept of "substantial emotional distress" in the civil anti-harassment statute (RCW 10.14.080) similarly. This argument is without merit.

Although the anti-harassment statute at issue in this case does not define "substantial emotional distress," the "fact that some terms in a statute are not defined does not mean the enactment is unconstitutionally

⁶³1RP 91, 93-94, 96-97.

vague." *Id.* at 204, *quoting, State v. Lee*, 135 Wn.2d 369, 393, 957 P.2d 741 (1998). "Rather, [a] statute is void for vagueness if it is framed in terms so vague that persons of common intelligence must necessarily guess at its meaning and defer as to its applicability." *Id.* (internal quotations omitted). In *Williams*, the court's analysis focused on the wide variety of conditions that relate to the broad concept of someone's "mental health" — from temporary, "mere irritation" to a substantial and prolonged, diagnosable mental condition. *Id.* The court's holding was narrow, focused entirely on the specific nuances of the term "mental health." That analysis has no bearing on the constitutionality of the term "substantial emotional distress."

In *State v. Askham*, the court examined the phrase "substantial emotional distress" in RCW 10.14.020 and rejected a litigant's argument that expert testimony was required to establish the necessary level of emotional distress. 120 Wn. App. 872, 883, 86 P.3d 1224 (Div. III 2004). "Emotional distress" is a more narrow term than "mental health" in that it is focused on the negative aspects of stress, such as fear. *See, e.g., State v. Kintz*, 169 Wn.2d 537, 556, 238 P.2d 470 (2010) (harassing acts were "such as would cause a reasonable person to suffer substantial emotional

distress, and actually caused substantial emotional distress, as evidenced by [victim]'s very real fear").

Moreover, the term "emotional distress" is entrenched in the common law, with well-established definitions. It is an essential element of several tort causes of action, as well as its own separate cause of action. See, Reid v. Pierce County, 136 Wn. 2d 195, 202, 204, 961 P.2d 333 (1998) (negligent infliction of emotional distress; element of outrage); Kloepfel v. Bokor, 149 Wn. 2d 192, 195, 66 P.3d 630 (2003). The Kloepfel case is instructive. The Washington Supreme Court conducted an extensive analysis of the term "emotional distress," analyzing whether that element of a tort case must be proven with evidence of objective symptoms, or even constitute a diagnosable emotional disorder. Id. at 196-98. Though the holding of the case was making distinctions between recovery in negligent versus intentional inflictions of emotional distress cases, the Restatement (Second) of Torts was quoted at length in the opinion, providing detailed definitions of "emotional distress" and "severe emotional distress," and relying on them in the decision: "'Emotional distress' includes 'all highly unpleasant mental reactions, such as fright, grief, horror, shame, humiliation, embarrassment, anger, chagrin,

disappointment, worry, and nausea. "Id. at 203, quoting, Restatement (Second) of Torts § 46, cmt. j at 77 (1965) (emphasis added).

These examples demonstrate that the concept of "emotional distress" is well-established and understood in Washington courts, and the Court's ruling regarding former RCW 9A.46.020(1)(a)(iv) in *Williams* has no bearing on the constitutionality of RCW 10.14.020.

E. <u>The Court's Order Was Narrowly Tailored To Remedy the</u> <u>Harassment Proven At Trial.</u>

Appellant further complains that the terms of the order bear no nexus between Massingham's harassing conduct and the proscribed conduct under the order. He essentially contends that if Massingham's harassing conduct was speaking Kenny Gray's name, the terms of the order should have been aimed at Massingham's speech. This argument should be rejected.

As this Court has already pointed out,⁶⁴ the restrictive provisions of the court's order are not broad: the court restrained Massingham from Thiel's home and required him to exchange the children at a neutral location. "[T]his is not a case in which the court enjoined Massingham from speaking about Gray and Thiel to any third parties." *Cf., In re:*Marriage of Suggs, 152 Wn.2d 74, 93 P.3d 161 (2004) (order overbroad in

⁶⁴Ruling Denying Motion For Emergency Stay, October 11, 2012, page 5.

covering all speech about victim to third parties). Appellant has argued that speech restrictions have to be "tailored as precisely as possible." Here, the court was able to craft provisions for protection that avoiding speech restrictions altogether; the court was very sensitive to not curtailing Massingham's free speech rights.

Appellant complains that Massingham wasn't restricted from saying Gray's name — which he argues would honor the nexus between the conduct and the harm. But again, this mischaracterizes the "harm" related to Massingham's conduct. The harm was the annoyance and harassment of Thiel. The most restrictive way to remedy that harm is to keep Massingham away from Thiel — not curtail Masingham's speech altogether. The court's order is not a blanket prohibition on Massingham's fundamental personal liberty, including free speech, in the future. To the contrary, the order is crafted with precision to only prohibit unwanted, predatory conduct with Thiel. The order leaves open ample alternative channels of communication for expression of Massingham's constitutional rights, including free speech, just not with the victim — in similar fashion to State v. Noah, 103 Wn. App. 29, 42, 9 P.3d 858 (Div. I 2000), review denied by, Calof v. Casebeer, 143 Wn.2d 1014, 22 P.3d 802 (2001). 67

662RP 4

⁶⁷See, extended discussion, Section IV.F, infra.

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